

School of **Public Policy**

UNIVERSITY OF

BRIEFING PAPER Volume 17:07 June 2024



Policies Affecting the Efficiency of Beef **Production in Alberta: A Supply Chain Analysis**

Derek Gerald Brewin, PhD

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by UFA Co-operative Ltd. and the Rural Communities Foundation (RCF) in a sponsorship agreement that supports research, research dissemination, and public outreach. The sponsors were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

http://dx.doi.org/10.55016/ojs/sppp.v17i1.78295

policyschool.ca

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1	
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	
INTRODUCTION	
THE NATURE OF BEEF DEMAND4	
INTERNATIONAL PRODUCTION	
BEEF PRODUCTION COSTS IN ALBERTA	,
POLICIES TO SUPPORT BEEF PRODUCTION	
CONCLUSIONS	
APPENDIX	
REFERENCES	
ABOUT THE AUTHOR	;
ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC POLICY)

Policies Affecting the Efficiency of Beef Production in Alberta: A Supply Chain Analysis

Derek Gerald Brewin, PhD

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Shoppers face high beef prices at the supermarket, but those prices are not a reflection of what Canadian farmers and ranchers earn from their cow-calf herds. In the past 30 years, the average beef producer's operating margin has never reached \$50,000, despite the fact that the average beef farm's asset base stands at more than \$2 million.

Better access to export markets, including the U.S., South Asia and North Africa, would help to remedy the producers poor returns. Export prices would need to cover production costs, the largest of which is feed for the producers' cattle herds, accounting for 77 per cent of the average ranch's cash costs.

As of July 2023, Alberta's herd consisted of 1.77 million beef and dairy cows. With demand for livestock-derived food expected to jump by 38 per cent in the next 30 years, Canadian cattle ranchers need to take advantage of this global increase through freer trade. Canadian beef can remain competitive globally if the supply chain accesses world markets beyond the U.S., especially in developing countries where consumer incomes are increasing. The industry also needs investments in research, farm extension and supply chain co-ordination from national and provincial self-funded producer groups.

Producers must look outward to global trade but be ready to capture new innovations at home. The dominant economies of scale are available to beef processors and finding savings is difficult for farmers and ranchers. However, there is potential for the supply chain to see savings from new technology, which is why investment in continuing support for ranch-level production research is necessary. Producers also need to focus on national co-ordination aimed at protecting trade access and responding to trends in consumer demand for beef.

Any new industry policies must also consider key factors that currently affect market demand and expansion including: changing consumer preferences globally, the welfare of animals raised for slaughter and the effects of greenhouse gas emissions on supply chain sustainability. As some of the output and byproducts of the grain production sector provide feed for cattle, policies meant to support the grain sector may be indirectly influencing the beef sector significantly — for good and bad.

Infrastructure required for worker safety, animal welfare improvements or improved food safety also adds to the cost of the beef supply. Protectionist trends and increased tariffs pose a threat to the supply chain because they too can create new costs. This is why access to foreign markets

is crucial for producers, along with continued investment in research, sector-wide co-ordination to support market access and reviewing crop support to ensure livestock producers are compensated if grain policy changes harm them.

Although live animals and much processed Canadian beef are exported to the U.S., fostering good trade relations in Asia and Africa is vital, given the growth in incomes and consumer demand for beef that is predicted for those regions.

Free trade is the basis of good agriculture policy and any move towards protectionist policies and higher tariffs is the biggest threat for new costs in the supply chain. Canada's beef sector requires low-cost access to foreign markets, making free trade policy the single most important policy focus for the sector.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

- Protect access to foreign markets especially the United States, South Asia and North Africa. This is dependent on the goals and options of major trading partners. Under the current U.S. president, multilateral agreements are likely the best strategy.
- 2. Continue to invest and explore investing more in research for beef producers and targeted processing needs.
- 3. Continue to support sector-wide co-ordination especially to support market access and science-based regulation.
- 4. Review crop support in Canada to confirm the livestock sector is not being harmed, especially in terms of land and feed costs.

INTRODUCTION

When you drive north along Alberta Provincial Highway 22 from Lundbreck to Mayerthorpe, you see cattle grazing in the foothills of the Rocky Mountains in a setting that would look familiar to a rancher from a century ago. For millennia before that, the scene would have been similar except the herbivores were bison. That ancient natural land resource and the persistent connection between grass, animal and rancher/hunter form the backbone of Alberta's beef supply chain. As of July 1, 2023, there were 1.77 million beef and dairy cows in Alberta's herd (Statistics Canada 2023a) supplying calves every year to feedlots, packing plants, meat counters and steakhouses across the world. COVID-19 recently exposed the fragility of the chain of firms that connect those grazing cattle to the customer's plate. This paper focuses on the changing costs of that supply chain, especially those affected by policy and major trends in consumer incomes and preferences.

East of Highway 22, you see a landscape more influenced by major innovations in crop production, huge tractors and irrigation pivots. The futurists tell us these landscapes will be further changed by automated tractors and precision-controlled fertilizer and herbicide applications. In this paper, we will explore the differences and synergies between beef and crop supply chains. Some of the output and byproducts of the grain production sector are major feed inputs in beef production. And some of the policies meant to support the grain sector may be influencing the beef sector indirectly to a significant amount — for good and bad.

While the cow-calf sector looks very similar to the sector of the early 1900s, there have been innovations in disease control, grazing and feed management as well as all along the beef supply chain and these have led to an efficient supply of beef. This paper's goal is to review each step of the beef supply chain in Alberta to identify some key areas of research that should be considered, to explore the influence of policy on this supply chain and to identify a few recommendations that could improve the supply chain's efficiency as it relates to the costs of producing beef.

The economic role for any supply chain is to reflect the customer's evolving willingness to pay for a good — down the supply chain to every firm along the chain — so that the firms can see the potential for adding value. The final consumer must pay enough so that firms along the supply chain receive enough to cover their costs and earn enough profit to attract investment and innovation in meeting the needs of those consumers. Figure 1 shows the operating cost of beef farms in Canada from 1990 to today. Although recent returns have increased on the average beef farm, since 1993 the operating margin for the backbone of beef producers who supply the first step of the beef supply chain have never reached \$50,000 for the average beef farm (Statistics Canada 2023b). Given that the asset base of the average beef farm is now over \$2 million (Statistics Canada 2023c), that is a poor return to assets and management of less than 2.5 per cent.



Figure 1. Operating Revenue, Expenses and Margin for the Average Canadian Beef Farm

In a supply chain, efficiency normally means a reduction in costs. Supply chains are constantly innovating to reduce costs in supplying current products, but they can (and should) shift if the demand for their goods are shifting. This means the supply chain is not always changing to reduce costs. Most of this paper will focus on the changing costs of this supply chain and the impact of social trends and regulation in Canada and Alberta on those costs. We will start, though, with a review of changes in demand.

THE NATURE OF BEEF DEMAND

Before we delve into the costs of the supply of beef, we should discuss the nature of beef demand in 2023. If there are trends ahead that will require changes in the supply chain, they should be noted and factored into the discussions of the supply chain below. Three key factors regarding beef demand that are often discussed are changing preferences as incomes increase worldwide, the welfare of animals slaughtered in the beef supply chain and the supply chain's sustainability in terms of greenhouse gas emissions. All three of these factors interact with policy changes.

Figure 2 shows increasing incomes, as measured by GDP, and beef demand worldwide. Between 2000 and 2020, beef use increased by 26 per cent (FAO 2023). Increasing populations and incomes in the developing world are expected to continue to grow the total global demand for beef. In their model of livestock-derived food, Komarek et al. (2021) estimate a 38 per cent increase in global demand for livestock-derived food from 2020 to 2050. Although much has been made of a growing demand for plant-based protein, Taylor et al. (2021) found that 53 per cent of surveyed consumers in the U.S. had consumed beef at least once the previous day versus six per cent who had consumed plant-based proteins. The net effect is clear in the trends: as world income has been rising, beef consumption has been increasing. Macro-economists at the

Source: Statistics Canada (2023b)

OECD (2023) are currently forecasting a return to pre-COVID growth rates for 2024 and beyond. Although environmental concerns and regulations could hamper beef supply chains, sustainable meat production from pastures and unpalatable crop byproducts appears likely to remain a key part of the world protein supply (Smil 2014). That means beef demand overall should be steady for the predictable future. In Canada and Alberta, this means steady export demand as long as trade routes function well, absent large tariffs, and Canadian producers remain cost competitive. The clear policy implication is a support for free trade as a national goal.



Figure 2. World Beef Produced (FAO 2023) and Real GDP (2015US\$)

Source: World Bank (2023)

Rising concerns about animal welfare and food safety may be more likely to have a direct impact on the beef supply chain than a shift in diet. Cow-calf ranches in Canada have not faced significant limits from policies to protect animal welfare that were not already best management practices for economic production (BCRC 2022), but animal welfare regulations have raised production costs in some countries. Citizens can support food safety regulations while pushing all of the costs onto farms. Regulations regarding food and worker safety certainly impacted the beef supply chain during COVID-19 (Rude 2020). The beef industry has been participating in the National Farm Animal Care Council which defines codes of practice for the care and handling of farm animals (NFACC 2023). While 2020 regulations from the Canada Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) have reduced the options for moving compromised animals and require records and rest stops, they may not have had a significant positive impact (and possibly negative impact) on animal welfare (Meléndez et al. 2020).

As noted above, Taylor et al. (2021) found significant and steady preference for beef in most U.S. households. There have been rising trends in an interest in vegetarianism and vegan diets, but there has also been rising interest in carnivore diets (Google Trends 2023). The relative level of

interest can be measured by Google searches for terms like "vegan diet" and "carnivore diet." Carnivore-diet searches are recently trending up and were more than vegan and vegetarian combined (see Appendix Figure A1). When we look at major protein sources like soybeans, the largest growth in demand for the protein in these crops is for livestock. Soybeans may represent the most efficient plant source of protein (Videle 2019) but 97 per cent of the world's soymeal goes to feed for animals (USB 2021).

To date, plant-based protein demands for humans may have had a small impact on the trends for beef demand or beef's supply chain. However, a more widespread change in consumer preferences or democratic regulation could derail any supply chain. Given the more pronounced growth in income and general increase in livestock-derived food, the more pressing current concern for the Canadian beef sector is the growth in export demand and a competitive cost of production.

It seems strange to discuss sustainability concerns regarding the cow-calf sector, given the similarity that sector bears to the land use and meat supply that existed on the Prairies at least 6,000 years ago (HSIBJ 2010). However, methane from cow-calf operations figures heavily in the total emissions from beef production (BCRC 2023). Recent estimates of the total methane cycle amount which sinks into the soil and goes into the atmosphere, recapture about 97 per cent of methane emissions from all sources and this would be a net sink if not for fossil fuel-generated methane (Global Carbon Project 2020). Searchinger et al. (2008) estimate the net effect of burning biofuels made from converted grasslands and forests (which destroys the carbon sinks as well as reducing numerous other environmental services) would contribute more carbon to the atmosphere over 30 years than burning gasoline. However, environmental regulation, especially if it misses the complete cycle of methane or ignores lower cost options for emission reduction, could greatly increase the cost of beef production.

INTERNATIONAL PRODUCTION

Greenwood (2021) reviewed beef production in major beef producing and exporting countries. Some major differences emerge regarding the level of finishing of calves with added grain in a feedlot setting, in the dominant genetics of the cow herd and in the importance of dairy in the supply chain. With the third largest herd in the world, the U.S. produces and consumes the most beef globally (Greenwood 2021). As well as importing chilled beef from Canada and Mexico, the U.S. consumes about 88 per cent of its own beef production. New Zealand exports a remarkable 95 per cent of its beef production and at 83 per cent, it is second only to India in terms of the share of its cow herd bred for dairy production (Greenwood 2021).

New Zealand makes an interesting case study as a leading beef producer. Of the 11 countries Greenwood examined, New Zealand had the lowest level of producer support estimates (PSE) as a share of farm receipts at 0.8 per cent for 2019/2020 (OECD 2023). With no significant support to the crop or dairy sector, New Zealand's land base has focused on dairy for export, which has provided a steady supply of beef from calves and culled dairy cattle (OECD 2023). Canada's dairy sector is supported at 37 per cent of farm receipts and the crop sector receives significant support from the business risk-management suite within current provincial and federal policy frameworks. This adds up to a PSE share of farm receipts at around 10 per cent for Canada (OECD 2023). Except for investments in research and development, much of which is funded by check-offs from animal sales, the non-dairy part of the beef sector in Canada receives very little of the Canadian PSE.

BEEF PRODUCTION COSTS IN ALBERTA

Despite the concern over carbon taxes and labour shortages in Canadian agriculture and the costs of potential food safety and animal welfare regulations, the dominant driver of costs in the Alberta beef supply chain is feeding the animals. Government of Alberta (2022) estimates of cow-calf farm costs of production show that 77 per cent of the average ranch's cash costs come from feed and pasture. For feedlots, the calves brought in are the biggest cost at 67 per cent of cash costs, but feed represents the largest non-calf cost at 20 per cent of cash costs (Manitoba Agriculture, 2023). This means that policy which influences the grain crops used for feed has been one of the biggest regulatory impacts on the Canadian beef sector. The following are a few examples of that influence. No other individual input (other than pasture and feed) represents more than four per cent of variable costs. Total veterinary medicine was less than 3.8 per cent of the average cow-calf variable costs (Government of Alberta 2022).

FEED COSTS

Barley has been the traditional feed source for feedlots in southern Alberta. Barley has lost much of its area to other crops — especially canola in Canada (see Figure 3). It remains a major crop in terms of seeded area. Agriculture and Agrifood Canada's (AAFC) August 18 supply and disposition estimates for barley still show 2.96 million hectares of land in Canada seeded to barley and AAFC reported that 52 per cent of this area is in Alberta with 38 per cent in Saskatchewan and six per cent in Manitoba (AAFC 2023). While shifting incentives from the removal of the Canadian Wheat Board and its separate Malt Barley Pool have changed the returns to barley in some areas, it is still a profitable crop for many farmers in Alberta who face cooler and shorter growing seasons and a steady demand for feed grains from the feedlot sector. The 2023 Canadian barley crop is estimated to be over nine million tonnes (Mt) supplying 5.3 Mt to domestic feed markets and 3.3 Mt to the export market (AAFC 2023).



Figure 3. Alberta Area Seeded to Barley and Canola

Source: Statistics Canada (2023d)

AAFC (2023) also reports just over 300,000 tonnes of food-use barley mainly for the malting sector. Despite the dominant place of feed demand for barley, two of Alberta's leading barley varieties in terms of area seeded — CDC Copeland (most popular in terms of area) and AAC Synergy (third most popular) — have an established market in the malting sector (Yield Alberta 2021). Malting varieties still offer barley producers some probability of making malt grades that generate windfall returns if they get adequate quality. But as noted above, only a small portion of the barley crop is traded to maltsters.

One institutional problem facing barley growers and challenging its area is the idea of an orphan crop. This is a problem if breeding requires public or private incentives but a crop like barley is small relative to dominant crops like wheat and canola. The dominant crop attracts fewer resources to breeding. Relative yields fall for the orphan and area falls if the yield growth from breeding of the orphan crop does not match growth from the dominant crops. Average wheat and canola yields in Canada from 2019 to 2023 are 40 per cent and 49 per cent higher than they were from 1995 to 1999. For barley, the yield gain was only nine per cent (Statistics Canada 2023d). Pulse crops saw a large increase in yield when farmers increased their check-off funding to the Crop Development Centre at the University of Saskatchewan (Malla and Brewin 2019).

AAFC (2023) also reported over 2.7 MT of corn imports into Canada. Livestock feeders in Manitoba and Eastern Canada have difficulty growing barley due to disease and in these areas cheap corn from the U.S. has become a regular import. Corn grown for grain is also a growing crop in southern areas of Alberta and Manitoba. AAFC (2023) also noted that the worldwide stock of barley is at a historic low, suggesting demand has been outstripping supply for several years. While good news for barley producers, it means high feeding costs for Alberta feedlots unless they can find cheaper alternatives like corn and byproducts from oilseed crushers and biofuel refineries.

One policy that could be keeping export demand steady for Canadian barley is the maximum revenue entitlement (MRE), a regulatory limit on the maximum average rate that can be charged by Canada's two major railways to move grain. Brewin et al. (2017) estimated U.S. rail movements to be 52.6 per cent higher than the MRE. This means that exporters from the Pacific Northwest must pay higher freight to buy barley in Montana and North Dakota and move it west. This effectively lowers the price for barley in Montana and North Dakota relative to markets in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, and makes feed barley more expensive to Canadian feedlots as they compete with export buyers in Vancouver.

The support measured by the PSEs calculated by the OECD for Canada support crop production generally. Public research funds are still a major supporter of barley varietal development and pest and disease mitigation, but the major source of distortion is subsidized crop insurance programs. These programs allow crop farmers to pay lower premiums for crop yield insurance. They do not favour one crop over another. Barley is not facing a disincentive relative to wheat or canola from crop insurance. The relative drop in barley area has more to do with the rising demand for oilseeds (and the growth in canola area) worldwide than any particular farm policy. Canada does not offer subsidized production insurance to the beef sector. A margin insurance product (AgriStability) is offered to both sectors but its coverage is based on the most recent five years. Until 2023, the recent margins in the beef sector were very tight. This means the relative value of the margin insurance, at least recently, has also favoured crop production over beef. To the extent that these policies support crop production generally, they have likely lowered barley costs relative to an unsubsidized crop sector. As we can see in New Zealand, a complete

removal of farm supports could lead to more beef and dairy in Canada relative to crop production. Given the history of farm support in North America, however, a zero PSE is an unlikely scenario for Canada.

In general, the support for the crop sector should decrease the relative costs of feed grains and the byproducts of food grains and oilseeds that are added into feed rations. Policies supporting that production affect the relative supply of feed grains. However, given Canada's relative position in the world supply, this might not affect local feed prices significantly. As long as Canada remains a net exporter of grains, the world price remains the major driver of domestic prices. The one regulatory impact that might shift the domestic price is the MRE rates in rail transportation. These were not designed as a subsidy, but merely a cap that was allowed to move with real changes in cost. Nevertheless, more efficient movements in Canada versus the U.S. could be making local feed prices higher in Canada than they are in the U.S.

LAND

Land for pasture and hay is another major cost for beef production. This is yet another area where policy targeted to the crop sector can influence the beef sector. Many of the subsidized risk management program benefits mentioned above in the discussion of feed are being capitalized into farmland values in Canada. While not all pasturelands can be converted to crop land, some have been or could be. As it transitions into crop land, it rises in value and the reduction in pasture increases the value of the remaining grasslands. All of this drives up the costs of grazing cattle. This land on the margin between crop and pasture is normally less-productive land and is often prone to erosion. As well, any pastureland that is broken up and planted to crops destroys a carbon sink.

A final tie to the cost of land is the potential for even higher costs for both feed grains and pasture if Western Canada faced a drought over a large region. While producers in drought regions may survive if the dominant export demand still drives local prices, if regions become so desperate for feed that they start paying to import that feed into regions with dense livestock numbers, it leads pricing closer to export values. At export plus transportation prices, livestock farms will face tough choices between feeding animals or liquidating their herds. Droughts have been part of the recent decline in beef herd size in the U.S. and are being tied to climate change (USDA 2023), but it has happened with a North American crop sector that is still exporting a large share of production.

ECONOMIES OF SCALE

Research suggests that larger beef farms have lower costs per unit of beef produced. Gillespie et al. (2023) found that cow-calf farms with 500 or more cows had total costs less than half of operations with fewer than 50 cows; however, their operating costs were quite similar. They argue that cow-calf operations offer one of the best options for farmers interested in small scale, due to the low startup costs. Thus, although economies of scale can have an impact on the cow-calf part of the supply chain there is no concern of concentration of market power and at the margin this is not likely a cost factor.

It has also been argued that beef packing plants exhibit economies of scale (Hobbs 2021). Four firms have controlled more than 94 per cent of beef packing in Canada since 2010 (Rude 2020). While this raises concerns of market power, nearby U.S. competition and the need for enough animals to maximize returns to plants seem to have kept beef prices at a fair level relative to the cost of cattle (Rude et al. 2011). Figure 4 shows slightly increasing beef prices over recent years but no widening of beef prices over cattle prices. There are several points where cattle prices are rising faster than beef prices, indicating tighter margins for packers, and we are likely in the middle of one right now as the U.S. cattle herd has contracted to a record low (Polansek 2023).



Figure 4. Relative Beef and Cattle Prices

Source: Statistics Canada (2023e)

Rude (2020) catalogues the evolution of packing plants in Canada and the U.S. He argues that the economies of scale in the four largest firms in Canada have led to virtually no successful entrants into the major beef packing supply chain since the late 1980s. Rude also lists research identifying major cost savings for packing plants which slaughtered over 1.1 million head. In Canada, only the Cargill plant in High River and the JBS plant in Brooks slaughter that many animals (Rude 2020). There have been calls to build more packing plants in Canada. The basic economies of scale and total needs of the Canadian herd do not suggest further expansion at this time.

OTHER SUPPLY CHAIN COSTS

In his review of options for the beef packing sector, Rude (2020) noted that any increase in slack capacity to protect the beef supply chain from periodic shocks and any needed infrastructure for worker safety, animal welfare improvements or improved food safety would add costs to the sector whatever the plant configuration. Rude noted recent investments by JBS in robotic technology suggest the sector is moving towards high levels of automation. Joshi et al. (2017) agree:

Robotics holds the promise of reducing the processing cost by helping speed up processing lines, making production more efficient and reducing labour requirements. The time is not far away when all the processes in meat processing starting from the primary processing, secondary processing, packing and dispatch, will be fully automated.

POLICIES TO SUPPORT BEEF PRODUCTION

FREE TRADE

With incomes increasing worldwide, the export demand for beef remains the biggest challenge facing the Canadian beef supply chain. Although live animals and a large share of our processed beef are heading to the U.S., maintaining good trade relations in Asia and Africa is important given the forecasts for growth in those areas (Komarek et al. 2021). Several of the policies noted above regarding crops and risk management have likely led to more feed production in Canada relative to a crop sector with less insurance subsidization or production research, but more production from either sector requires access to world markets. Thus, free trade as a policy remains the backbone of good policy for agriculture. Any move to protectionism and increased tariffs poses the biggest potential for new costs in the supply chain.

The U.S. has been the main trade concern for beef in terms of live animals and processed beef. With the signing of the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA), Canada secured access to U.S. markets for both live animals and beef despite threats from the Trump administration to curtail beef imports (Cardwell and Kerr 2021). Although also a member of USMCA, Mexico's own processing expansion is not likely to be a major concern to Canadian producers as it seems to be targeting its own domestic market (Peel 2023). Under the current administration in the U.S., a move to more multilateral agreements is likely the best strategy for securing Canadian markets (Cardwell and Kerr 2021). As long as trading rules are co-ordinated between the U.S., Mexico and Canada, the large North American market will provide a fair playing field for both ranchers and packers.

Some of the check-off funds collected by beef organizations in Canada are targeted at market access activities. Australian research suggests this is the best return to a check-off dollar although most of the activities of the beef research funds have a significant payoff (BCRC 2016). More on this below.

ADJUSTMENTS TO GRAIN POLICY

Several of the policies noted above have likely led to more feed production in Canada than would otherwise be the case. Any benefits from that supply are dampened by rail rate policy that likely makes export demand in Canada higher relative to the U.S. Removing the MRE to allow higher rail rates could reduce barley prices in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, but this would be a great cost to the crop sector. Basic research into new crop varieties and in disease and pest mitigation increases yields and supports grain production such that feed grain prices should keep grain production competitive in Canada. The worldwide supply and disposition of wheat and oilseeds may still lead to a continued erosion of the area seeded to barley and other feed grains if these crops face lower total demand, but similar production costs on a limited area of arable land. As a crop with falling area, barley does face a disadvantage in terms of the payoff for either private or public research investments relative to crops with more area.

In Canada, the canola sector contains hybrid seed and patented herbicide technology that helps canola generate its own seed development (Malla and Brewin 2019). The public sector, in partnership with producer groups funded by check-offs, has continued investing in wheat and barley breeding and production research (Malla and Brewin 2019), but the high returns to research suggest there has been under-investment. There has been some success from smaller crops — especially pulses — when individual producer groups increased check-off funds to target gains in yield (Gray 2014). Barley producers and barley consumers may benefit from an increase in funding for production research.

RESEARCH FOR BEEF PRODUCTION AND FARM EXTENSION

The gains from research shown in crops are also apparent in the beef sector. In its own assessment, the Beef Cattle Research Council in Canada estimated a \$14 benefit for every dollar spent by producer-funded associations on beef production research and market access activities (BCRC 2016). This is a greater contribution than similar spending in Australia and the U.S., likely because those two countries are spending more dollars and moving closer to a reasonable return. Although there have been changes in beef quality, almost all of the gains from research come from improving the relative cost of producing one more kilogram of beef.

The extension of research results is a major need in Canada. Since the 1980s there has been under-investment in both agricultural research and the extension of those research findings to farmers. Alston et al. (2002) looked at the gains from agricultural research around the world. They found huge returns to both agricultural research and in farm extension services that share research results towards incorporating results into farm production. They found annual rates of return of 80 per cent for both production research and extension (these are remarkably high rates for an annual return on an investment, even compared to recently improved deposit rates). Although online extension from BCRC and other provincial and national research groups has been excellent, increasing extension further along with research investments seems to be a win-win policy change for the sector.

National beef associations have a third role as a co-ordinating body in the supply chain when it faces a major shock. Rude (2021) discusses the role of the Canadian Cattlemen's Association and Western Stock Growers Association in lobbying for policy responses in the midst of the COVID-19 lockdowns in Canada and the U.S.

CONCLUSIONS

Given the sticker shock of sirloin steaks in Canadian grocery stores in 2023, there is little good news in this paper for significant reductions in the costs of producing beef. The large firms in charge of processing most of the beef in Canada are already capturing the lion's share of available economies of scale. Beef producers adopt new technology as it emerges into their market, but no new savings were identified in this paper. There may be gains to the supply chain in emerging automation technology and in improved production options identified by public and private researchers. Continued support for ranch-level production research and extension as done by the Beef Cattle Research Council appears to be a good investment. Also, there is evidence of significant gains in a national co-ordination of the sector to protect trade access and prepare for changing consumer demand. National co-ordination from producer associations also provides a forum for pivoting in the face of any future supply chain interruptions like the plant closures during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic. While some pro-crop farm support likely inflates land costs and domestic feed prices, and a reduction there could support beef producers, this is unlikely to change any time soon. As is true for most of Canada's agriculture and food supply chains, the beef sector requires low-cost access to foreign markets, making free trade policy the single most important policy focus for the sector.

APPENDIX



Figure A1. Relative Rank of Monthly Searches Using Google Trend for: "Carnivore Diet," "Vegan Diet" and "Vegetarian Diet" in the U.S.

Source: Google Trends (2023; 100 = vegan search in July 2017)



REFERENCES

- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC). 2023. "Canada: Outlook for Principal Field Crops." August 18. <u>https://agriculture.canada.ca/sites/default/files/documents/2023-08/Canada%20</u> <u>Outlook%20for%20Principal%20Field%20Crops_202308.pdf.</u>
- Alston, Julian M., Michele C. Marra, Philip G. Pardey, and T. J. Wyatt. 2000. "Research Returns Redux: A Meta-analysis of the Returns to Agricultural R&D." *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics* 44, no. 2: 185–215.
- Beef Cattle Research Council (BCRC). 2016. National Check-Off Evaluation. https://www.beefresearch.ca/content/uploads/ 2022/04/NCO_QnA_July_2016_FINAL.pdf.
- ———. 2021. Five-Year Canadian Beef Research and Technology Transfer Strategy. <u>https://www.beefresearch.ca/content/uploads/2022/04/Five_Year_Canadian_Beef_Research_and_Technology_Transfer_Strategy_July_2021_web-1.pdf.</u>
- ———. 2023. "Environmental Footprint of Beef Production." Last updated July 31. <u>https://www.beefresearch.ca/topics/environmental-footprint-of-beef-production/.</u>
- Brewin, Derek G., Troy G. Schmitz, James F. Nolan, and Richard S. Gray. 2017. "Grain Transportation Policy Reform in Western Canada." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne* d'agroeconomie 65, no. 4: 643–665.
- Cardwell, Ryan, and William A. Kerr. 2021. "President Biden's International Trade Agenda: Implications for the Canadian Agrifood Sector." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne* d'agroeconomie 69, no. 1: 19–25.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations. 2023. FAOSTAT. Crops and Livestock Products. <u>https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL</u>.
- Gillespie, Jeffrey, Christine Whitt, and Christopher Davis. 2023. "Structure, Management Practices, and Production Costs of US Beef Cow-Calf Farms." Economic Research Service. U.S. Department of Agriculture. No. 321. <u>h</u> <u>ttps://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/107013/err-321.pdf?v=9911.8.</u>
- Global Carbon Project. 2020. Global Methane Budget 2008-2017. https://www.globalcarbonproject.org/methanebudget/20/files/MethaneInfographic2020.png.
- Google Trends. 2023. Google. <u>https://trends.google.com/trends/explore?date=all&geo=</u> <u>US&q=carnivore%20diet,vegan%20diet,vegetarian%20diet&hl=en-US</u>.
- Government of Alberta. 2022. "AgriProfit\$ 2016-2020 Economic, Productive and Financial Performance of Alberta Cow/Calf Operations." Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Economic Development. <u>https://open.alberta.ca/publications/agriprofit-economic-production-and-financial-performance-of-alberta-cow-calf-operations.</u>
- Gray, Richard. 2014. "Solutions to the Agricultural Research Funding Conundrum." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics* 62, no. 1: 7–22.
- Greenwood, Paul L. 2021. "An Overview of Beef Production From Pasture and Feedlot Globally, as Demand for Beef and the Need for Sustainable Practices Increase." *Animal* 15: 100295.
- Head Smashed-In Buffalo Jump (HSIBJ). 2010. HSIBJ Information Guide. <u>https://headsmashedin.ca/</u> sites/headsmashedin/files/editor_files/HSIBJ%20INFO%20GUIDE%202010.pdf.

Hobbs, Jill E. 2021. "The Covid-19 Pandemic and Meat Supply Chains." Meat Science, 181: 108459.

- Joshi K., T. Norton, J. Frías, and B. Tiwari. 2017. "Robotics in Meat Processing." In *Emerging Technologies in Meat Processing: Production, Processing and Technology*, E. Cummins and J. Lyng, eds. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. As cited in Rude (2020).
- Komarek, Adam M., Shahnila Dunston, Dolapo Enahoro, H. Charles J. Godfray, Mario Herrero, Daniel Mason-D'Croz, Karl M. Rich et al. 2021. "Income, Consumer Preferences, and the Future of Livestock-derived Food Demand." Global Environmental Change 70: 102343.
- Malla, Stavroula, and Derek G. Brewin. 2019. "Crop Research, Biotech Canola, and Innovation Policy in Canada: Challenges, Opportunities, and Evolution." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/ Revue canadienne d'agroeconomie* 67, no. 2: 135–150.
- Manitoba Agriculture. 2023. "2024 Cost of Production, Beef Feedlot Finishing." <u>https://www.gov.mb.</u> ca/agriculture/farm-management/production-economics/pubs/cop-beef-feedlot-finishing.pdf.
- Meléndez, Daniela M., Sonia Marti, Derek B. Haley, Timothy D. Schwinghamer, and Karen S. Schwartzkopf-Genswein. 2020. "Effect of Transport and Rest Stop Duration on the Welfare of Conditioned Cattle Transported By Road." *PLoS One* 15, no. 3: e0228492.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2023. PSE Data Base: Compare Your Country Interactive Data Comparison (Country Policies). <u>https://www.oecd.org/canada/ producerandconsumersupportestimatesdatabase.htm.</u>
- Peel, Derrell, S. 2023. "Mexican Beef Exports Continue to Grow." July 18. <u>https://beef2live.com/story-mexican-beef-exports-continue-grow-0-139633.</u>
- Polansek, Tom. 2023. "RUS Beef Cow Herd Falls to 52-year Low, Squeezing Meat Packers." Reuters. July 21. <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/us-beef-cow-herd-falls-52-year-low-squeezing-meatpackers-2023-07-21/.</u>
- Rude, James. 2020. "Resilience versus Efficiency: The Feasibility of Small Local Meatpacking Plants in Canada." Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute. <u>https://capi-icpa.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/2020-11-23-The-Feasibility-of-Small-Local-Meat-Packing-Plants-in-Canada-James-Rude.pdf.</u>

----. 2021. "COVID-19 and the Canadian Cattle/Beef Sector: A Second Look." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne d'agroeconomie* 69, no. 2: 233–241.

- Rude, James, Darryl Harrison, and Jared Carlberg. 2011. "Market Power in Canadian Beef Packing." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne d'agroeconomie* 59, no. 3: 321–336.
- Searchinger, T., R. Heimlich, R. A. Houghton, F. Dong, A. Elobeid, J. Fabiosa, S. Tokgoz et al. 2008.
 "Use of US Croplands for Biofuels Increases Greenhouse Gases Through Emissions From Land-use Change." *Science*, 319(5867): 1238–40.
- Smil, Vaclav. 2014. "Eating Meat: Constants and Changes." Global Food Security 3.2: 67-71.
- Statistics Canada. 2023a. Biannual Livestock Survey. http://dc.chass.utoronto.ca.uml.idm. oclc.org/cgi-bin/cansimdim/c2_seriesCart.pl.
- ----. 2023b. Agriculture Taxation Data Program.
- ----. 2023c. Farm Financial Survey.
- ----. 2023d. Field Crop Reporting Series.
- ----. 2023e. Farm Product Price Index, and Monthly Average Retail Prices.

- Taylor, Hannah, Glynn T. Tonsor, Jayson L. Lusk, and Ted C. Schroeder. 2023. "Benchmarking US Consumption and Perceptions of Beef and Plant-based Proteins." *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy* 45, no. 1: 22-43.
- United Soybean Board (USB). 2021. Checkoff News: "Agri-Pulse: 'US Soy: Soaring Renewable Diesel Not Food-versus-Fuel Issue." September 1. <u>https://www.unitedsoybean.org/hopper/us-soy-soaring-renewable-diesel-not-food-versus-fuel-issue/</u>.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2023. "U.S. Beef Cow Inventories Settling at Progressively Lower Levels, Drought Contributing to Most Recent Declines." Economic Research Service of USDA. April 20. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/chart-gallery/gallery/ chart-detail/?chartId=106369.</u>
- Videle, James. 2019. "Comparison of Protein and Caloric Energy (Kcal) Produced Per Acre on US Farms." *Humane Herald. May* 9. <u>https://humaneherald.org/2019/05/09/ comparison-of-protein-and-caloric-energy-kcal-produced-per-acre-on-u-s-farms/</u>.
- World Bank. 2023. Data: GDP (Constant 2015 US\$). https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY. GDP.MKTP.KDv.
- Yield Alberta. 2021. Agriculture Financial Service Corporation. https://afsc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Yield-Alberta-2021.pdf.

About the Author

Dr. Derek Brewin is a Professor and Head of the Department of Agribusiness and Agricultural Economics at the University of Manitoba. He has a Ph.D. from Pennsylvania State University in Agricultural, Environmental and Regional Economics. His recent research has focused on spatial agricultural markets as well as innovation. He is a Past President of the Canadian Agricultural Economics Society and a current Director of Farm Management Canada. Derek is also the chair of the Sol Sinclair Institute for Farm Management at the University of Manitoba. Prior to his academic career Derek was a Corporate Advisor for the Canadian Wheat Board and a Policy Economist for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. He was raised on a mixed irrigation farm in Purple Springs, Alberta.

About The School of Public Policy

The School of Public Policy has distinguished itself as the leading institution of its kind in Canada, offering a practical, global, and focused approach to the analysis and implementation of public policy across various domains:

- 1. Social Policy and Health
- 2. Energy and Environmental Policy
- 3. Fiscal and Economic Policy
- 4. International Policy and Trade

Our commitment to delivering this unique perspective sets us apart within Canada. The core mission of The School of Public Policy is to bolster Canada's public service, institutions, and economic performance for the betterment of our families, communities, and the nation as a whole. We achieve this by pursuing three key objectives:

- **Building Government Capacity**: We empower public servants through formal training in both degree and non-degree programs. This training equips these individuals, responsible for shaping public policy in Canada, with the practical skills and expertise needed to represent our nation's vital interests, both domestically and internationally.
- Enhancing Public Policy Discourse: Beyond government, we foster executive and strategic assessment programs that promote a deeper understanding of effective public policy among those outside the public sector. This effort enables everyday Canadians to make informed decisions regarding the political landscape that will shape their future.
- Providing a Global Perspective on Public Policy Research: Through international collaborations, educational initiatives, and community outreach programs, we incorporate global best practices into Canadian public policy. This approach ensures that our decisions benefit the entire populace in the long term, rather than catering to the interests of a select few in the short term.

The School of Public Policy relies on a diverse pool of experts, encompassing industry professionals, practitioners, and academics, to conduct research within their specialized domains. This approach ensures that our research remains highly relevant and directly applicable to realworld challenges. Authors often have personal or professional stakes in their research areas, which is why all Research Papers undergo a rigorous double anonymous peer review process. Following this review, our Scientific Directors conduct a final assessment to uphold the accuracy and validity of the analysis and data presented. This thorough process underscores our commitment to providing credible and actionable insights to inform public policy in Canada.

The School of Public Policy

University of Calgary, Downtown Campus 906 8th Avenue S.W., 5th Floor Calgary, Alberta T2P 1H9 Phone: 403 210 3802

DISTRIBUTION

For a full list of publications from The School of Public Policy, please visit <u>www.policyschool.ca/publications</u>

DISCLAIMER

The opinions expressed in these publications are the authors' alone and therefore do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the supporters, staff, or boards of The School of Public Policy.

EDITORIAL PRACTICES STATEMENT

This manuscript is a rapid contribution to the policy conversation that has been open-reviewed by at least one University of Calgary faculty member prior to publication.

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © Brewin, 2024. This is an open-access paper distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons license CC BY-NC 4.0, which allows non-commercial sharing and redistribution so long as the original author and publisher are credited.

ISSN

ISSN 2560-8312 The School of Public Policy Publications (Print) ISSN 2560-8320 The School of Public Policy Publications (Online)

DATE OF ISSUE June 2024

MEDIA INQUIRIES AND INFORMATION

For media inquiries, please contact Gord Der Stepanian

Our web site, **www.policyschool.ca**, contains more information about The School's events, publications, and staff.